CARR-1581
4550 Baptist Road, Hamney Vicinity

Summary:

The John Sheets Farm is eligible for the National Register under Criteria C, in that the
house and surviving stone out buildings are an excellent example of Germanic-Georgian
farmhouse architecture from the period 1790-1820. They demonstrate the influence of
Renaissance planning and architectural forms on the common vernacular building of the German
population in Carroll County, and the Pennsylvania Culture Region in general. This was at least
in part a result of acculturation due to close association with Anglo-American neighbors.
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Ownership of Property
(Check as many boxes as apply)

L1 private

3 public-local
(O public-State
[J public-Federal

Category of Property
{Check only one box)

& building(s)

O district

{0 site

{1 structure

{3 object

Name of related multiple property listing
{Enter “N/A” it property is not parnt of a multiple property listing.)

Number of Resources within Property

(Do net include previousty listed resources in the count.)

Contributing
3 2

Noncontributing

buildings
sites
structures
objects
Total

Number of contributing resources previously listed

in the National Register

6. Function or Use

Historic Functions

(Enter categories from instructions)

DOMESTIC/Single Dwelling

DOMESTIC/Secondary Structure

AGRICULTURE/Agricultural Outbuilding

AN

Current Functions
{Enter categories from instructions)

DOMESTIC/Single Dwelling

7. Description

Architectural Classification
(Enter categories from instructions)

No Style

Narrative Description

foundation
walls Stone, Weatherboard

other

Materials
{Enter categories from instructions)

Stone

roof BriCk, Wood

(Describe the historic and current condition of the property on one or more continuation sheets.)
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for National Register listing.}

Oa

Ob

Property is associated with events that have made
a significant contribution to the broad patterns 6f
our history.

Property is associated with the lives of persons
significant in our past.

Property embodies the distinctive characteristics
of a type, period, or method of construction or .
represents the work of a master, or possesses
high artistic values, or represents a significant and
distinguishable entity whose components lack
individual distinction.

Proberty has yielded, or is likely to yield,
information important in prehistory or history.

Criteria Considerations

(Mark **

x" in all the boxes that apply.)

Property is:

o
A
08B
Oc
Ob
OEe
OF
Oa

owned by a religious institution or used for
religious purposes. -

removed from its original locaﬁon.

a birthplace or grave.

a cemetery.

a reconstructed building, object, or structure.
a commemorative property.

less than 50 years of age or achieved significance
within the past 50 years.

Narrative Statement of Significance

(Explain the significance of the property on one or more continuation sheets.)

"Areas of Significance

(Enter categories from instructions)
Architecture

Period of Significance
1797-1811

Significant Dates
C.1805

Significant Person
(Complete if Criterion B is marked abaove)

Cultural Affiliation

Architect/Builder

9. Major Bibliographical References

Bibilography
(Cite the books, articles, and other sources used in preparing this form on one or more continuation sheets.)

Previous documentation on file (NPS):
O preliminary determination of individual listing (36

i

CFR 67) has been requested

O previously listed in the National Register

[J previously determined eligible by the National

Register

[ designated a National Historic Landmark
[ recorded by Historic American Buildings Survey

#

0O recorded by Historic American Engineering

Record #

Primary location of additional data:

[ State Historic ‘Preservation Office
[0 Other State agency
[0 Federal agency
O Local government
O University
{3 Other
Name of repository:
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date May 18, 1999

and Development
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telephone (410) 386-2145

MD zip code 21157

ci%gr town Westminster

A. onal Documentation
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Maps
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Photographs

Representative black and white photographs of the property.
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Property Owner

{Complete this item at the request of SHPO or FPO.)
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The John Sheets Farm is located at 4550 Baptist Road approximately one mile southwest
of Harney in northwestern Carroll County, Maryland. The complex consists of a stone house;
stone summer kitchen; stone smokehouse; frame shed and CMU poultry house. The complex is
set on a very flat site approximately 200 yards east of the Monocacy River.

The house is a 2 story five bay by two bay rubble-stone structure with coins at the corners
and a gable roof of corrugated metal with an east/west ridge. There is an interior brick chimney
on both the east and west gable ends centered on the ridge. The house faces south. The house
has new 1/1 sash and the window frames and sills are wide and are wrapped in aluminum, though
it appears that the original frame survived underneath and are probably morticed and tenoned and
pegged. The earlier window sash are stored in poultry house, they are a mix from six-light sash
from several periods and some 2-light sash.

The south elevation has a center entrance with new wood door that has four-lights over
four panels. The door frame is morticed and tenoned and pegged and has a beveled back ban.
There are two sash to each side of the center doorway, the second story windows are shorter than
those on the first story. There is a plain wood box cornice. The house has a three bay porch with
a concrete deck and a shed roof supported by four champford posts.

The west elevation has two 1/1 sash on both the first and second stories. The gable end
has a small window opening set south of center. This opening has a narrow frame and there is
no sash in it now.

The north elevation of the house has a two story porch to the east and the summer
kitchen to the west is now connected to the house. The three eastern bays have a CMU wall
beneath the porch on the first story, this wall is topped by three set of twenty light steel sash.
The west center bay has German siding and a four lying panel door that leads to the cellar.
The second story of the porch has four boxed posts with three horizontal board rails between
each set of posts as a balustrade. The first story of the house has no opening in the east bay, a
new 1/1 sash in the east center bay and a door in the center bay that has one-light over two
lying panels. The door frame is covered by later trim boards, there is no opening in the west
center bay, the porch is divided between the center and west center bays by a twenty-light
metal sash. The second story has no opening in the east bay, a 1/1 sash in the east center bay,
a door in the center bay that has two lights over two panels, no opening in the west center bay
and a 1/1 sash on the west bay. The gable roof of the summer kitchen covers much of the
west bay of the porch on the second story, but does not connect to the house.
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The east elevation has two 1/1 sash on both the first and second stories. The gable
peek has a semicircular arched plaque that appears to be marble but has no marking on it. On
the east end of the rear or north porch, the first story has German siding and a door opening.
The second story has the typical balustrade and there are flush boards in the eave end of the
porch.

The cellar is divided in half by a rubble stone wall running north/south that has an
opening in it. This opening has a morticed and tenoned and pegged frame but the door is
missing. The west cellar has a summer beam that runs east/west, it is set into a triangular
stone fireplace buttress on the west end. The summer beam is hewn on all four sides and is 1'
1 3% inches wide by 8 2 inches deep. The joists run north/south and rest on top of the
summer, they are hewn on the bottoms, the sides are not visible. In the east cellar the summer
beam has been cut through and a portion of it removed. There is a fireplace buttress on the
east end in the center to support a corner fireplace in the northeast room above, but there is
nothing to support a similar fireplace in the southeast room

The first story has a center passage double pile plan, the center passage is narrow and
does not have a stairway. However, it appears that the floor plan has been altered and the
stairway moved so that the stairway was probably originally at the rear of the center passage.
The passage has new oak flooring that runs east/west. The doorways to the front rooms have
been rebuilt and have new architrave that matches the rest of the first story doors. The
passage is one room deep with a wall and doorway to the front rooms have been rebuilt and
have new architrave that matches the rest of the first story doors. The passage is one room
deep with a wall and doorway on the north end. This doorway cannot be viewed now because
it is hidden behind a large piece of furniture.

In the southeast room the flooring is about 5% wide and runs east/west. The north
wall of this room appears to be rebuilt, this room has chair rail with a Torres at the top and
ogee in the center and a flattened bead beneath it. There is also a bead at the bottom edge.
The windows have two panels on each jamb and two panels on the soffit. The frames have an
ovolo run on the edge of the board. This is the only room without a fireplace, although it is
possible it originally had a stove, as it appears to be the best room, architecturally speaking.

The northeast room has the same flooring and chair rail as the southeast room. The
window jambs have flat sunk panels. Move to elsewhere. The southeast room window panels
have fields. The window on the east elevation appears to have originally been a door, as the
trim is cut through on both sides and the frame does not match the north window. There is a
corner fireplace in the southeast corner, the brick work here is now exposed. It has a




MARYILAND HISTORICAL TRUST Survey No.CARR-1581
STATE HISTORIC SITES INVENTORY FORM

Description ) Section 7 Page 3

semicircular arched opening that is set off center, it is now filled with a wood stove set on new
raised brick hearth. The wood mantle appears to be original.

The southwest room has random width flooring that runs east/west. There is chair rail
on the south and west walls only and it matches that in the southeast room. The thin partition
walls on the east and north suggests that they are board walls and that the boards were
originally exposed but were later plastered over. The southeast room on the other hand
appears to have been plastered on all four walls from the beginning. There is a fireplace in the
northwest corner it has straight parged jambs with a reveal in each front corner. The wood
mantle is similar to that in the northeast room and has three panels in the frieze. It has a
plastered over mantle with rails and stiles of wood. The over mantle has a cornice.

The northwest room has a linoleum on the floor, there is chair rail identical to that in
the southeast room on the west, east and north elevations, the south elevations appear to have
been plastered at a later date. There is beaded-edge-vertical-board half wainscot on the
southwest and north walls. There is a fireplace on the southwest corner that has splayed brick
jambs and a new concrete hearth. The mantle is similar to that in the northeast room and has a
plain frieze. On the north elevation to the west is a doorway that has been cut through. The
chair rail on the east wall appears to pass into the partition wall on the south that divides the
passage, the doorway between the north and the south passage has architrave that is mitered
cut, it would appear that the passage was originally one long opening and that there was a wall
dividing the northwest room from the passage, this wall probably had vertical board half
wainscot on it as well on its western side or the side in the northwest room and was later taken
out. There is an enclosed two flight stairway that runs up along the north wall. The walls
enclosing it are plastered. There is a vertical board door at the foot of the stair, a chair rail on
the north wall goes behind the stair stringer and into a closet beneath the stairs. It has been
hacked off inside the closet. The stairway turns at a landing and goes up to the south toward
the second story passage.

The second story is laid out with a similar plan to that found on the first story. The
flooring alternates between having tongues on both sides and having grooves on both sides.
The ceiling is covered with riven lath and plaster, which appears to be the original sailing
treatment. There is hewn summer beam that runs east/west near the center of the house. The
Joists are sash sawn, are 7 % inches deep and are half lapped into mortices in the summer
beam. The stairway to the attic is now closed off with tongue-in-groove-vertical boards that
are wire nailed but it was originally opened. The balusters are turned and are painted olive
green, the hand rail is moulded and is painted olive green below and grained brown on top. It
is a double flight of stairs with a landing at the north end, the top flight is not painted. The
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null post are square, the west wall that the stairway runs up along has beaded-edge-vertical
boards painted olive green and this appears to be the original treatment. On the lower flight of
the stairway, there is chair rail nailed to this board wall. The profile of this chair rail is
similar to that of a hand rail but not identical. There were originally vertical boards at the top
of the stairway probably to support a railing around the stair opening. These were nailed with
cut nails and must be an original feature because there is no olive green paint where they were.

The attic roof framing consists of principal and common rafters pairs that are hewn on
all four sides and have a center tenon and peg at the ridge. There are collar beams that are
also hewn and are morticed and tenoned and pegged to the principal rafters. Between the
principals there are purlins that are morticed and tenoned and pegged and there are braces that
run up from the principals to the under side of the purlins. The braces are also morticed and
tenoned and pegged. The common rafters are hewn on all four sides and are of smaller
dimensions, they rest on top of the purlins. These common rafters are centered, tenoned and
pegged at the ridge and the rafter feet have a birds mouth cut that laps over the false plate.
The principal rafters are also treated the same way at the foot. The rafters support lath and
corrugated metal. The north plate has notches cut on into the north face to hold the ends of
the porch rafters, these porch rafters are small round logs and they are nailed to the false plate.
The rafters do not line up with the joists. Move to elsewhere. The common rafters are not
attached to the purlins. The brick chimney on the east end has been rebuilt, the original was
also of brick and the brick was toothed into the stone wall. The brick chimney on the west end
appears to be original.

The summer kitchen is now attached to the rear or north elevation of the house, it is a
one story rubble stone structure with German siding connecting the kitchen to the house. This
structure has a shallow gable roof of corrugated metal with a north/south ridge. The west
elevation has a 1/1 sash and there is another 1/1 sash in the wall between the two stone
structures. The north elevation of the summer kitchen has a projecting rubble stone fireplace
with traces of penciling, it is topped by a brick chimney, constructed of wire cut bricks. The
gable end has German siding with a four-light sash to the east and a four-light sash set to the
west and set high on the wall. The east elevation also has German siding connecting the
kitchen to the house with a new six panel wood door in this location. There is a 1/1 sash to
the north in the stone wall and a new porch projects to the east. The structure has a wood box
cornice. On the interior there is 3" wide pine flooring that runs north/south, there is new
vertical board siding on the walls and textured ceiling. The openings have plain head-cut trim,
there is a large stone cooking fireplace with straight jambs centered on the north elevation.
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About 5' north of the summer kitchen fireplace is a rubble stone smokehouse that has a
hip roof with asphalt shingles. The stone work has been repointed, there is a doorway on the
south elevation that contains a new circular sawn frame. There is a small opening on the north
elevation that is now filled with bricks on the interior, on the exterior it is covered with stone
and it is not even possible to tell where it was. The interior is parged, the roof is of two x
four’s that are circular sawn. Some of the rafters are older and have creosote, while others are
very new, but even the older rafters are wire nailed. The rafters support plywood sheathing.
Move to elsewhere. The structure is 9'x9' and 1 story tall.

About 15" northeast of the house is a shed that is one story tall and three bays x one
bay, it has wide new weatherboard siding and a gable roof of inverted v-seam metal with an
east/west ridge, it has a rubble stone foundation that is partially topped by concrete. The south
elevation has two vertical board doors and a projecting shed roof wing on the east. The west
elevation has no openings. The north elevation has beaded-edge-in-center vertical board door
set just east of center. The east elevation has no openings. The east end is of two by four and
four by four circular sawn construction and has a concrete floor. Under the current siding is
novelty siding. The west end interior is sheathed with horizontal beaded-edge-in-center boards
on both the walls and ceiling and too as a concrete floor. There were windows on the north
and west sides that are covered by the current siding, the east wall of this section has v-groove
horizontal siding.

Contributing Resources 4
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The John Sheets Farm is eligible for the National Register under Criteria C, in that the
house and surviving stone out buildings are an excellent example of Germanic-Georgian
farmhouse architecture from the period 1790-1820. They demonstrate the influence of
Renaissance planning and architectural forms on the common vernacular building of the German
population in Carroll County, and the Pennsylvania Culture Region in general. This was at least
in part a result of acculturation due to close association with Anglo-American neighbors.

The John Sheets Farm is located on part of the 528 acres of land that Sheets’ father, Jacob
Sheets, Sr., had re-surveyed and patented in 1796 as Neighbor’s Agreement. This consisted of
portions of Addition to Brook’s Discovery on the Rich Lands, Good Luck, Frenchman’s Purchase
and Benjamin’s Inspection, most of this land lying on the west side of the Monacacy, in present
day Frederick County. Jacob Sheets sold 115 acres, most of his land on the east side of the
Monacacy to his son John in 1797, for £1,150 or £10 an acre. John Sheets had already
purchased 8 % acres in the area several years earlier. In a bill of sale from this period, John
Sheets is described as an innkeeper. As the name is actually not common in Frederick County, it
is likely that there was only one man by this name. Where the inn stood is not known, and it is
not listed in the 1798 tax records. These records generally only note buildings added since the
last assessment, and do not mention any on the 123 % acres that John Sheets owned.

The 1808 Charles Varle map of Washington and Frederick counties records a plantation,
with the name Sheets, in the general location of the existing stone house. This suggests that John
Sheets added something to his farm. Local tradition says the house was built in 1805, and the
details of the building are consistent with a date of C.1798-1808, although it is not possible to
narrow down the date of the house to this ten year period only from the details of the house. The
house is worth considering in detail. Though, it has undergone a few changes, the original floor
plan is easy to determine. The house had a center passage with a stair at the rear and just off of
the passage, and is a double pile plan with corner fireplaces in three rooms. The mantels for all
three survive, and are excellent examples of Germanic Georgian from C.1790-1820. Comer
fireplaces are often referred to as being part of the “Quaker Plan” because William Penn
recommended them to Pennsylvania settlers, they can be found in non-Quaker verracular housing
throughout the British Isles and continental Europe. The original partition walls for these three
rooms appear to have been boards that are now plastered over. The fourth room, on the front,
has the best finishes, as the window jambs have fielded panels here only, and the partition walls
appear to have been plastered from the beginning. There was never a corner fireplace here, but it
is possible there was a stove in this room, perhaps fed from the fireplace in the room adjoining.
This would make the room function as a German stube.

A very similar arrangement exists in the 1758 Peter Wentz Farmstead in Montgomery
County, Pennsylvania. Here only one room has a corner fireplace, in part because one of the rear
rooms was a kitchen. It was this latter room fireplace that had a stove connected to it. The
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Sheets house did not have a kitchen in the main block, but had a free standing kitchen wing close
to the rear of the building. The Wentz house has a similar arrangement; the wing is attached but
is not fully enclosed. Instead, a breezeway that is open on one side makes the transition from the
house to the wing.

The Sheets house roof framing, employing principal rafters with purlins between them that
support common rafters, is typical for large houses in Carroll County from C.1790-1810, and
seems to be a transition from the German liegander Stuhl roof frame to a common rafter and false
plate system that become ubiquitous after 1810. The stairway to the attic, which is original, is
another unique feature that dates before 1820.

Jacob Sheets died in October 1806 and was buried in the Lutheran cemetery in
Taneytown. In his Will he left his home farm of 130 acres, along with a merchant mill, saw mill,
house, barn and outbuildings to his son, John. The Will suggests that John was already running
the operation, though the 81 year old Jacob still had control of the house and barn. John Sheets
apparently took over around the time the Will was written, in 1806, probably because Jacob’s
health was failing. Suddenly, John Sheets’ own farm was surplus, and he must have set about
selling it soon after he received the deed to his father’s property in 1808. Joseph Lohr purchased
it for $7,049,60 V%, but did not keep it for long. In 1816, the farm was deeded to Lewis Motter
for $8,610. Motter, in turn, sold the farm to John Young, of Adams County, Pennsylvania, in
July 1832. The price had dropped to $4,000. The 1835 tax assessment is the first record to do
current the presence of the stone house on John Young’s farm. Young moved to Carroll County
and apparently was living on the property, though it does not appear that he was farming. By
1841, he had a log barn, and this structure may have dated to John Sheets’ tenure, but Young was
never assessed for much in the way of livestock or farming implements. He may have had an
occupation, or a child or tenant may have been working his land.

In any case, Young sold the farm in April 1867 to John H. Sterner, also originally of
Adams County, Pennsylvania. Sterner moved to the farm and was very definitely tilling it, as in
1871 his livestock was worth $744. In 1880, he built a new barn, but this and most of the farm
buildings have disappeared. The Sterner family continued to farm here until deeding the property
in 1913 to Augustus Morelock. From 1920 to 1945 the Wantz family farmed it, and from 1945 to
1975 the Slaybaugh family farmed here. It served as a rental property for much of its history after
1975 until recently purchased by the last tenant to restore it.

Geographic Oi‘ganization:
Piedmont

Chronological/Development Periods:
Rural Agrarian Intensification A.D. 1680-1815
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The John Sheets Farm is eligible for the National Register under Criteria C, in that the
house and surviving stone out buildings are an excellent example of Germanic-Georgian
farmhouse architecture from the period 1790-1820. They demonstrate the influence of
Renaissance planning and architectural forms on the common vernacular building of the
German population in Carroll County, and the Pennsylvania Culture Region in general. This
was at least in part a result of acculturation due to close association with Anglo-American
neighbors.

Corner fireplaces are of ten referred to as being part of the "Quaker Plan", because
William Penn recommended them to Pennsylvania settlers, they can be found in non-Quaker
vernacular housing throughout the British isles and continental Europe.
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